

ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS

for the year ended 31 December 2022

ACA6G08J

A10 18/08/2023 COMPANIES HOUSE

The Investment Association

Camomile Court, 23 Camomile Street, London EC3A 7LL

Registered number: 04343737

T: +44 (0)20 7831 0898 •**W:** theia.org

July 2023

© The Investment Association (2023). All rights reserved.

No reproduction without permission of The Investment Association.

CONTENTS

Directors and Officers	2
Strategic Report	3
How we support and promote our members	11
Carbon Neutral Statement	13
Directors' Report	14
Statement of Directors' Responsibilities	15
Board Activity and its Committees	16
Independent Auditor's Report to Members of The Investment Association	19
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2022	24
Statements of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022	25
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 December 2022	26
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022	27

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Investment Association Ltd (the "Company") who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements were:

PM Thomson * ***

CJ Cummings

A M Altinger

S Bird (appointed 27 April 2022)

S H Cohen *

Pd'Orgeval (resigned 27 September 2022)

M E Dzanis * **

H A Elmasry **

R L Elwell **

AJ Formica (resigned 27 September 2022)

SP Hagerty * ***

P Harrison***

C F Hill

KS MacGillivray (appointed 27 September 2022)

NJM D Moreau

C M O'Reilly

NJ Ring (appointed 27 September 2022)

M S Scrimgeour * ***

K Skeoch (resigned 27 September 2022) ***

H Smits (resigned 27 April 2022)

MRB Versey ***

K D Zachary (appointed 27 September 2022)

COMPANY SECRETARY

J W Knight

REGISTERED OFFICE

Camomile Court, 23 Camomile Street, London, EC3A 7LL

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Mazars LLP, The Pinnacle, 160 Midsummer Boulevard, Milton Keynes, MK9 1FF

MEMBERS OF THE INVESTMENT ASSOCIATION GOVERNANCE COMMITTEES

- * Remuneration Committee
- ** Finance, Audit and Risk Committee
- *** Nomination and Governance Committee

STRATEGIC REPORT AT A GLANCE

THE INVESTMENT ASSOCIATION
(THE "IA") IS THE TRADE BODY
REPRESENTING UK INVESTMENT
MANAGERS. ITS MEMBERS RANGE
FROM SMALL, INDEPENDENT UK
INVESTMENT FIRMS TO EUROPE-WIDE
AND GLOBAL PLAYERS. COLLECTIVELY,
THEY MANAGE OVER £10 TRILLION
OF ASSETS ON BEHALF OF THEIR
CLIENTS IN THE UK AND AROUND
THE WORLD. THAT IS 12% OF THE
£83 TRILLION GLOBAL ASSETS UNDER
MANAGEMENT.

The UK investment management industry plays a major role in the economy, helping millions of individuals and families achieve their life goals by assisting grow their investments (mainly through workplace pensions). In fact, 75% of UK households use an investment manager's services (knowingly or unknowingly). The industry also invests billions of pounds in companies and the financing of transport networks, hospitals, schools and housing projects. The industry supports 122,000 jobs in the UK, including 13,900 in Scotland. It's the largest industry of its kind in Europe, and the second largest in the world, after the United States.

THE IA'S VISION

The IA's vision guides all its work:

"Championing investment for the benefit it brings to investors and the wider economy, in the UK and across the world."

The IA acts as the investment management industry's voice, representing its interests to policymakers and regulators, and helping to explain to the wider world what the industry does. We want our members to achieve the best results for their customers, both in the UK and internationally. To do this, we lead learning, training and development initiatives to ensure compliance with laws and regulations, and to promote best practice – all whilst attracting a more diverse workforce into the industry. We also consult widely with members on issues affecting the industry, such as market trends, new technology and data use.

Undoubtedly, the IA has positioned itself as a leading trade association. Since 2016 its headcount has grown from 61 to around 92; and its income has risen from £10.5million in 2016 to around £17 million as at 31 December 2022.

THE IA'S VALUES

As noted, since 2016 the IA's head count has increased dramatically and it has merged other organisations into it. To ensure we maintain a cohesive culture, the following values statement was developed in 2021:

"At the IA we are committed to serving our members, embracing new ideas and striving for excellence. We are inclusive, considerate and act with integrity in all we do."

This is represented on a flower where each petal represents a value. The flower is promulgated throughout the IA.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties that the IA is exposed to are recorded in its risk register which:

- Identifies and logs significant risks whether they be strategic, reputational, or operational.
- Manages and mitigates those risks. Each risk is assessed for likelihood and impact and given an overall score for both inherent risk – the likelihood and impact if no controls were in place, and residual risk – the position if all controls are in place and working as expected.

The risk register is reviewed annually by the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee and the results are presented to the Board at the ensuing board meeting. As at the date of the last review in October 2022, there were thirty-three risks on the register. Actions for 2023 include reviewing that our insurance coverage is in line with inflation and scheduling a date for a disaster recovery exercise. The highest risks and how they were/are managed are as follows:

Loss of membership income

The IA proactively engages with members which includes scheduled visits to members, CEO lunches, meetings of the IA Business Council, a membership survey and meetings of the IA Advisory Council. There are monthly meetings between the IA's CEO, Deputy Chief Executive and Head of Finance regarding forecasted finances, including any memberships that are considered at risk to enable early intervention. Both inherent and residual risk are high.

Cybersecurity – penetration of the computer system by hacking or virus

Avira and Mimecast intrusion prevention systems are monitored by the IA's IT.provider and there are frequent backups both on and offsite. There were IT upgrades during 2020 to ensure more up to date security features and a penetration test was run in April 2023. The IA maintains CyberEssentials Plus certification, a cyber insurance policy and a continuous programme of cyberrelated staff training. This has a high inherent and a medium residual risk.

Adverse publicity

The IA's media coverage is monitored and there are sign off procedures for comments to the media. A high inherent and medium residual risk.

Breach of competition law

All staff members undergo training by a third party legally qualified instructor every two years, and they and all committee chairs are issued with a laminated summary of Competition Law guidance which they cover at the beginning of every meeting. A high inherent and medium residual risk.

Office move

In 2025 the lease on the IA's offices in Camomile Court expires. The IA is now starting to explore new premises that it could move into at that time. This is a medium inherent and residual risk at this time.

THE IA'S STRATEGY AND DELIVERY OBJECTIVES

The IA's strategy was refreshed in 2020 when we established a new business plan for 2021 and thereafter. The business plan was further refined during 2022 to address the changing political and economic environment. In particular, the shocking invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 has had profound consequences for the Ukrainian people, and our members were caught in the eye of the storm as we raced to implement the sanctions on Russian companies and to carry out an orderly programme of divestment.

The ramifications of the war for the global economy have been far reaching, setting in motion a chain of events that resulted in European energy supply shocks, which cemented persistent and rising inflation. The era of low interest rates and the monetary policy orthodoxy of the last ten years has now ended. We see three major macro-economic headwinds that have significant implications for customers, particularly retail customers: the consequences of rising interest rates; the possibility of stubbornly higher inflation; and the potential for significant de-globalisation. These trends will have profound implications for market returns and economic growth and we have a clear role to play in supporting investors through these challenges.

As we gather ourselves to continue to weather the economic storm, the Government is racing to cement its growth and productivity agenda. For its part, the industry is considering how it can strengthen its support for that agenda, drawing on existing initiatives such as the Long Term Asset Fund, while re-examining how stewardship and the capital markets more broadly can adapt to support UK competitiveness. Clearly, the future regulatory framework will help to determine how the UK system operates and the Government, alongside the regulator, must continue to re-evaluate this framework looking not only through the lens of investor protection but also of competition and innovation.

All this meant that 2022 was an exceptionally busy year for the industry and ourselves. There were also other important areas where we helped the industry continue to deliver for customers and the wider society in a period of tectonic regulatory change. Within the framework of our new business plan, we set delivery objectives, around which priorities and work plans were formulated for 2023 and beyond. Some of the key highlights as to how we are delivering against those objectives are set out below.

Shaping regulatory reform

The regulatory framework under which our industry operates continues to evolve. The **Financial Services** and **Markets Act** is one of the most important pieces of legislation affecting our industry in recent years. We were pleased to see the key elements of the Bill pass largely unamended through the Commons elect and it received the Royal Assent on 29 June 2023. Over 30 Peers received IA briefings. We also used the passage of the Bill to focus attention on the advice gap and financial wellbeing.

The Bill was supplemented by the **Edinburgh Reforms** which set out the current administration's ambitions for financial services. With other leading members, Chris Cummings was among a small group invited to join the Chancellor when the Reforms were announced and was thus able to set out the industry's views in a bilateral conversation with him, as well as with other officials. The Reforms are a major package seeking to make the Government's vision for an open, sustainable and internationally competitive financial services industry. They focus on repealing EU law to build a bespoke UK system, boosting international competitiveness and creating a structure centred around the needs of UK consumers.

The IA continues to support members with the new **Consumer Duty** ahead of implementation this summer. The key current challenges for the IA and firms remain manufacturer-distributor information flow. This connects to other aspects of our ongoing activity on the future of disclosure.

The FCA undertook a series of visits to authorised fund managers in 2022 as part of a multi-firm review of the implementation of the **Assessment of Value (AOV)** requirements. This is a follow up to its previous multi-firm review, published in July 2021, in which it identified certain shortcomings in firms implementation. The IA is conducting research on AOV implementation by our members, including the costs versus benefits of particular requirements (e.g., AOV reports). This will inform our ongoing engagement with the FCA to ensure its approach allows for a proportionate and pragmatic implementation of the requirements and positions them within the Consumer Duty.

The IA has also focused on the **Liability Driven Investment (LDI)** crisis and gave written and oral evidence to the ongoing Work and Pension Committee's inquiry into DB schemes' use of LDI strategies, as well as engaging with French and German central banks who indicated a keen interest in this issue. In mid-December 2022, the Bank of England's Financial Policy Committee (FPC) published its latest Financial Stability Report, which included a section devoted to the LDI episode and a number of recommendations for regulators. We are working with members to develop an engagement plan to ensure that any new regulations from the FPC's recommendations are proportionate, targeted and do not reduce the effectiveness of LDI products for clients.

Modernising capital markets

In the context of the decline in UK equity listings, and ongoing discussions across industry and the Government on the competitiveness and attractiveness of **UK equity markets**, the IA is establishing a working group. This will reflect on reform/developments regarding the effectiveness and attractiveness of the UK market; and help the IA set out the buyside's position on what further steps could help improve its competitiveness. Following its first meeting, the group will look at existing reviews and proposals and then define key metrics for what "success" would look like, recognising that in all instances the client must come first.

Implementation of HM Treasury's Wholesale Markets Review and associated reforms such as introducing a consolidated tape and the accelerated settlement taskforce are being taken forward by the Edinburgh Reforms. We are working closely with HM Treasury and emphasise that these measures are crucial to the effective working of the UK markets and maintaining the UK's status as a global financial centre. We understand plans in Europe to introduce a pre-trade equity consolidated tape, as supported by the IA, have gained pace.

Following the IA's response to the FCA's consultation paper on **improving equities secondary markets** last September, we understand the FCA is likely to make changes in decoupling the systematic internaliser regime from post-trade reporting requirements. We believe it will introduce a designated reporter regime at entity level rather than at asset class level (the process today). This will reduce the burden on IA members to have to check continuously on an asset-by-asset basis who reports the trade, but only if the majority of investment banks and brokers sign-up to be designated reporters.

On promoting growth and access to **private markets**, key areas of focus include the development of the Long-Term Asset Fund (see promoting innovation below), provision of ESG data for private markets and addressing barriers to private market investment. Going forward, priorities include potential amendments to Solvency II and their impact on private markets, as well as working with platforms to ease access to illiquid investments.

The IA's annual **Investment Management Survey**, last published in September 2022, provided a snapshot of the UK industry and showed that IA members' AUM had reached £10 trillion as at December 2021. As well as being a comprehensive source of data on assets and funds under management, the survey included a detailed assessment of the challenges faced by the industry in 2021. The Survey was again well received both by members and wider stakeholders. The questionnaire to gather data for 2022 was sent out in February 2023.

Lastly, the IA continues to support the industry in providing detailed **fund statistics** on its sectors. We have expanded our sector classification scheme, helping retail savers navigate the fund market, and integrated Exchange-Traded Funds into the sectors.

Enhancing Sustainability and Responsible Investment

Sustainability and responsible investment remains the stand-out issue for the industry with attention focused on working towards an economy, society and planet fit for the future.

The IA responded to the FCA consultation on Sustainability Disclosure Requirements (SDR) and investment labels in late January. Since, we were in regular contact with the FCA and HM Treasury to discuss the key changes needed to make a positive difference to the effectiveness of the SDR regime. We were pleased to see that the FCA has listened to our call for a more thoughtful approach and will work with the industry. This has led to a delay in the introduction of fund labelling and the FCA will also look to widen the scope of products to be labelled as sustainable so fewer funds will be excluded to allow for a more seamless, less disruptive transition. The FCA will continue to convene the Disclosure and Labels Advisory Group, which we participate in, to discuss these issues and we will continue our regular engagement with it.

We are now developing our response to **DP23/1 'Finance for positive sustainable change'** which looks at regulated firms' sustainability-related objectives and strategies, and how these are supported by their governance and incentive arrangements, including how asset managers and asset owners organise and govern their stewardship activities. We have conducted a member survey to help inform our response, as well as having discussions with members.

We held a Stewardship Forum in January 2023. Given the themes that emerged and the wider debate from corporates, regulators and other stakeholders on the role and quality of stewardship and the increasing obligations on companies, the IA has decided to produce a report on the 'Future of Stewardship' which will cover: how stewardship is currently conducted; stewardship successes; challenges with stewardship across the investment chain; emerging challenges for asset managers given asset owners' changing expectations; the impact on investor/corporate relations; and how stewardship should evolve.

Since 2020, the IA has set out shareholder expectations for listed companies on four stewardship priorities: climate change reporting; gender and ethnic diversity; stakeholder engagement; and audit quality. We issued the same **shareholder priorities for 2023** with a specific focus on the importance of maintaining good governance and risk oversight practices to underpin these.

Promoting innovation

A theme throughout all the IA's work is the need for the industry to innovate to meet client demand.

In an environment of weakened outlook for asset growth, investors will seek access to returns that are uncorrelated. This lends urgency to opening access to alternative assets and private markets. Innovative new fund structures such as the Long-term Asset Fund (LTAF) which we initially proposed in our UK Funds Regime Working Group report (June 2019), and further developed in our position paper (July 2020). The LTAF will increase investor choice and could prove to be the catalyst for democratising access to private assets for ordinary pension savers, enabling access to the illiquidity premium enjoyed by institutional investors. We established an LTAF Implementation Forum to facilitate the effective launch of LTAFs and February 2023 saw the authorisation of two LTAFs, and the launch of the first LTAF, taking it from concept to product. We hope that this will drive momentum in the wider fund ecosystem to make the necessary adaptations needed to offer nondaily dealing funds, particularly in the platform space.

The IA has launched a new pan-industry process (Consumer Investments Strategy Forum – CISF) to coordinate input into the **FCA's Consumer Investments Strategy.** We had significant early success with a joint industry letter submitted to the Economic Secretary to the Treasury calling for early consultation on changes to facilitate both simplified advice and regulated personalised guidance. This marks the first time that the retail investment industry has coordinated in this way and we hope that this will create a foundation for future collaborative work. Since then, we have been advancing the discussions with regulators.

We celebrated the fifth anniversary of **Engine**, our FinTech hub and accelerator, at the EmTech Global Forum at the Guildhall in March 2023. In total, it has worked with over 150 FinTech firms, enabling them to raise awareness of their solutions, further develop their offerings and support the growth of their businesses. Engine takes an international approach, with FinTech firms based around the world, and has established a global partner programme through which it has partnered with 10 different countries.

Engine is working closely with our **new innovation unit** which will support members through a period of rapid change. The unit will provide a strategic focus for our work in tech-related areas like tokenisation, artificial intelligence and cryptoassets, and support the wider innovation agenda we are committed to.

On the issue of **fund tokenisation**, there are ongoing developments in other jurisdictions, and we continue to stress to regulators and HM Treasury that the UK must not fall behind. More broadly, we expect to lead some work on DeFi via the Asset Management Taskforce, and on asset tokenisation in conjunction with UK Finance in the coming months. In July 2022, we published a landmark paper on the future of investment funds, elaborating the concept of Investment Fund 3.0 and a series of potentially transformative scenarios for the next stages of the fund industry's development.

One of our near-term objectives is to establish how a digital disclosure regime could work, using the PRIIP's KID as an example. This should allow better information on charges and costs, which remains an area of controversy in that there are several issues with the way the current framework bundles different elements of cost. This may have unintended consequences in customers' buying behaviour and fund distributors' selection behaviour. We believe a new digital disclosure framework could allow us to maintain full transparency of costs in a much more effective communication architecture.

Enabling cross border business

As regards the current political and regulatory landscape in **Europe**, with European Parliamentary Elections approaching in 2024, the Commission will cease introducing new legislation around July 2023 and look at what to include in its next mandate. This gives us an opportunity to input into the next mandate's direction whilst also developing a document to help educate MEPs on the industry's role and value. The IA will produce a 'Manifesto' for the European Elections which will provide ideas and recommendations to policymakers, regulators, and experts on the role of investment managers in the EU for the next five years and beyond.

Looking more internationally, we were proud to jointly host the **Global Investment Management Summit**, alongside the City of London Corporation, Department for Business and Trade, and twenty-one of our members in late March at the Guildhall, with associated activities around the City. We welcomed to London some of the world's largest asset owners, with speakers including: Nikhil Rathi, Chief Executive of the FCA; the City Minister, Rt Hon Andrew Griffith MP, and Minister for Investment, Lord Johnson CBE, and featured a promotional message from the Chancellor. The event proved a great success and highlighted the world-class services our industry offers.

As part of our plans to expand our reach and influence at the international level, and recognising the importance of global issues such as financial stability in non-banks, the IA has become an affiliate member of IOSCO. Supplemented by Chris Cummings' new role as Chair of the International Investment Funds Association (IIFA), as an IOSCO affiliate, the IA will have more direct access to all parts of IOSCO's policy development. Also, following the first IIFA Board meeting since Chris was elected as chair, the IIFA is now undertaking a full strategy and governance review to modernise the organisation and ensure it meets the needs of its members.

Fostering equity, diversity and inclusion

Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) continue to be priorities for the industry, and increasingly for the regulator. The IA's dedicated team, the Culture, Talent and Inclusion (CTI) team, focuses on three priority areas.

Implementing industry-wide programmes to support members. Through Investment 20/20 the IA continues to address the supply of diverse talent across the workforce, while strengthening our industry's reputation in communities and society. In 2022, we delivered 300 events with schools, colleges and universities introducing investment management to over 21,000 students. Members participated in these events speaking directly with students. Investment 20/20's trainee recruitment peaked in 2022 to its highest since inception, generating 346 jobs for young people new to investment management, bringing our total trainees to 2,500. Furthermore, the sector contributed over £8.5 million in salaries and £1.8 million in tax and National Insurance from the recruitment of Investment 20/20 trainees in 2022. In addition, the FCA has outlined that very little has been done on the disability of neurodiversity. In 2022, Investment 20/20 provided a solution to enable young people with autism to join the industry, whilst simultaneously providing members with training and support in developing inclusive recruitment in partnership with Ambitious About Autism.

In the summer of 2022, Investment 20/20 launched a new film "it can be you" to share the inspiring stories from young people who started their career through the Investment 20/20 programme. The film highlights the broad range of socio-economic and educational backgrounds that the Investment 20/20 trainees have brought to the industry, as they build their careers in a sector that they never thought would be open to them.

In January 2023 we launched the Black Leaders Programme following a successful pilot, which aims to foster greater inclusion of black professionals' experiences with C-Suite leadership, while at the same time addressing blockages to their advancement. This year 14 mentees with 11 to 20 years of investment management experience were joined with C-Suite executives from members.

Working with regulators and the Government to shape and drive policy. The IA updated its Culture Framework in 2022 in response to the regulators' continued interest in culture and its contribution to positive customer outcomes, risk management and good conduct. The framework is a practical resource to understand culture, how it develops, and can be measured and monitored in a meaningful way.

As part of our plans to ensure the collection of richer EDI data and to support our industry in meeting the regulator's call for a more data driven approach to EDI strategies, we commenced a campaign in partnership with the Thinking Ahead Institute to gather an aggregate set of industry-wide data. The report will be published in late 2023.

Advising members on good practice. We continue to convene members on matters related to talent, diversity, equity and inclusion and in 2022 launched our member breakfast briefing skills series. We focus on specific topics including future skill needs and utilisation of the Apprenticeship Levy with degree apprenticeships. In addition, we held our first Inclusion Forum as well as our annual Culture Conference supporting the industry's ongoing culture journey by providing expert and industry-leading insights.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

As noted elsewhere in this strategic report, since 2016 the IA has grown. This is reflected both in the increased head count and the fact that other organisations have merged into it. As regards the current year, the Directors have reviewed the business and consider the IA's performance to be in line with their expectations. They consider that the IA's position at the end of the period is consistent with the size and nature of its business. The Directors are cautiously optimistic that in the medium term, the IA will continue to grow organically through its core and ancillary businesses.

This report was approved by the Board and signed on its behalf.

Patrick Thomson

Patrick Thomson Chair

24 July 2023

HOW WE SUPPORT AND PROMOTE OUR MEMBERS

MEMBERSHIP

Membership renewal and growth remained strong in 2022 despite another challenging operating environment.

26 new members joined the Investment Association across 2022, made up of 19 investment management organisations and 7 affiliated services firms. We additionally onboarded 30 new FinTech members through the IA Engine Limited. This continued growth of the membership demonstrates the value that the IA delivers in the form of expert advice, advocacy and connectivity with other industry participants.

Membership satisfaction and sentiment remained high with 98% of respondents highly likely to recommend the Investment Association. We continue to support our Scottish members with focused briefings and provide monthly CEO roundtable discussions addressing key regulatory and operational issues affecting the sector.

Tech and innovation remained a priority for the sector, with innovation and access to solution providers a continued focus area for member firms. IA Engine welcomed Cohort 2 of the pre-seed ideation programme SPARKS and opened applications for Cohort 6 of the Innovator programme. Engine has continued to build international relations through the Global Partners Programme and at the end of 2022 had MOUs with 10 financial centres, Singapore, Hong Kong, Japan, Saudi Arabia, Abu Dhabi, Dubai, Qatar, Kenya, Luxembourg and Australia. In March we were also delighted to welcome over 200 attendees to our Global Emergent Tech Conference to discuss all aspects of innovation looking at quantum computing, the metaverse and opportunities afforded by tokenisation as well as all things data.

The Fintech ecosystem now works with over 150 FinTechs and partners supporting investment and wealth management. The events and education outreach provides insights and discussions through subject specific TechTalks in areas such as Artificial Intelligence and Distributed Ledger Technology as well as TechTalkSprints that showcase solution providers and industry specific use cases.

By end December 2022 IA membership across all categories stood at 483 firms

2022 TOTAL MEMBERSHIP COMPOSITION

244 Full

44 Sector

81 Affiliate

114 FinTech

EVENTS AND TRAINING

In 2022, we ran many of our events in hybrid format with a view to return to in-person only events in 2023. IA events continue to focus on all the key regulatory and compliance developments impacting the investment management community and align the interest and expertise of related financial and professional service firms. Our events activities included webinars, briefings, forums, conferences, and roundtables (both virtual and in-person), and the IA engaged with more than 3,000 individuals during the year.

Our flagship 'IA Annual Conference' in July 2022 attracted approximately 250 of the industry's most senior practitioners, regulators, and policymakers, with Jonathan Reynolds, Shadow Secretary of State for Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy of the UK giving the keynote address, as well as Lord Callanan, Minister for Business, Energy and Corporate Responsibility who spoke on 'The Significance of Investor Stewardship and the Forthcoming Audit Reforms'.

The IA training team continued to address ongoing member requirements to receive regulatory and compliance-based training, and delivered 104 open course workshops in 2022, in a hybrid format. Additionally, it was a standout year for in-company tailored training sessions, as 44 individual sessions were delivered for members who needed dedicated support and training. IA Learning, our e-learning offering and learning management system platform with accredited modules, currently has over 5,500 individual IA members holding licences and accessing the platform.

CARBON NEUTRAL STATEMENT

Climate change is one of the single biggest systemic risks facing society and the planet today. The Investment Association, representing the UK-based investment management industry, is committed to climate action. Our members are supporting their investee companies to prepare for and mitigate against the impact of climate change, and we believe every company has a role to play in the collective transition to net zero.

In 2021, the IA began collecting the necessary information to determine our carbon footprint, with a view to becoming carbon neutral. We have calculated our carbon footprint and offset our emissions for 2020 and 2021. Following the pandemic, 2022 has normalised trading operations and business travel to show a true reflection of how the IA operates as a business. Our total emissions for the year, including a 10% safety margin were, 214.76 tonnes of CO2e. We are proud that in June 2023 the Investment Association was certified as a carbon neutral company, offsetting 214.76 tonnes of CO2e for 2022*.

Our carbon neutrality strategy involves a combination of supporting external carbon reduction projects and implementation of various carbon-reducing policies within the business such as updating our travel policy. In 2021, the IA's staff Sustainability and Environment Wellbeing Group led the selection of offsetting projects and consulted with the whole of the IA to ensure that all employees had an opportunity to have a say and to learn more about the process. Together, we selected projects based on the IA's values and UN Sustainable Development Goals with which we felt they aligned. Colleagues chose projects which supported responsible consumption and production, affordable and clean energy, clean water and sanitation, climate action, and quality education.

Our chosen projects were worldwide operating in Haiti, Indonesia, Brazil and the Philippines which stops plastic waste from entering the oceans, and a project providing energy-efficient cooking bags in Cameroon. The external carbon reduction projects or offsets we purchased are currently against our entire annual greenhouse gas emissions, including the emissions generated by our employee commuting patterns and business travel. Our offset selection focused on transparency of outcome, veracity of certification and quality of reporting. We have decided to support the same offsetting projects for the three years in which we have been carbon neutral, we felt it was important to show long-term support to these projects.

Our focus is not just on offsetting, it is based on a view that sustainability and the future of the world relies on reduction strategies as well. Now we have data from the new normal, we can move forward with understanding what is driving our carbon footprint, what this means for us, and the way the IA operates and meets the needs of our members, the industry and its clients.

^{*} This includes an additional 10% safety margin.

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

COMPANY STATUS

The Company is limited by guarantee. Its members have undertaken that, in the event of a winding up, they will contribute towards payment of the liabilities of the Company a sum up to the amount of their guarantee of £10. The guarantee is set out in the Memorandum of Association. As at 31 December 2022 there were 244 full members (2021: 240). By virtue of its constitution no dividends are payable by the Company.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The results for the Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group") show a profit before taxation of £697,778 (2021: £662,923). Net cash flow generated from operating activities was £517,951 (2021: inflow of £1,663,206). The Company's policy in relation to surpluses remains to be between two to six months of expenditure in reserves, with a target of four months. The accumulated reserves at the end of 2022 were £5,334,804 (2021: £4,510,839) which equates to 3.8 months (2021: 3.8 months), in line with this policy.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Details of future developments can be found in the Strategic Report on p13 and form part of this report by cross-reference.

CONSIDERATION OF RUSSIA-UKRAINE SITUATION

Following the entry of Russian forces into Ukraine, the Company has been very active engaging with the relevant authorities (including the Office of Financial Sanctions Implementation (OFSI)), and in providing support and guidance to members who are affected by the sanctions on Russia and other consequences of the invasion, such as cyber security threats. However, the situation has not caused any direct operational issues for the Company, although the risk will be monitored going forward.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Company uses member engagement and satisfaction surveys based on Net Promoter Score and will establish KPIs based on this data to create benchmarks.

EMPLOYEES

The Company is a founding partner of the Change the Race Ratio, a business-led initiative launched by the CBI to increase racial and ethnic participation in British

businesses. The Company continues to support the Change the Race Ratio. The Company is also a signatory to HM Treasury's Women in Finance Charter, the Race at Work Charter and is an accredited Living Wage Employer.

The Company continues to make a significant investment in technology (both infrastructure and software) to facilitate effective hybrid working.

The Company consults widely with employees using the Rungway portal, a sophisticated tool to gather employee feedback, in order to ensure that their views are considered when decisions are made that are likely to affect their interests. We communicate widely with all employees through day-to-day contact, team briefings, and companywide town hall and away day sessions.

The Company continues to be recognised with the Pension Quality Mark Plus and has a gold award for payroll giving.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' INTERESTS

The names of the current directors are listed in the Directors and Officers section of this report. None of the directors held any interests in the Company during the year.

As permitted by the Articles of Association, the directors have the benefit of an indemnity which is a qualifying third-party indemnity provision as defined by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. The indemnity was in force throughout the last financial year and is currently in force. The Company also purchased and maintained throughout the financial year directors' and officers' liability insurance in respect of itself and its directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Mazars LLP were reappointed as auditors at the AGM held during September 2022.

So far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditors are unaware. Relevant information is defined as "information needed by the Company's auditors in connection with preparing their report".

Each director has taken all the steps (such as making enquiries of other directors and the auditors and any other steps required by the director's duty to exercise due care, skill and diligence) that they need to in their duty as a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditors are aware of that information.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

THE DIRECTORS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR PREPARING THE DIRECTORS' REPORT, STRATEGIC REPORT AND THE GROUP AND PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (THE "FINANCIAL STATEMENTS") IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW AND REGULATIONS.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom accounting standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, The Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102).

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and all its subsidiaries (the "Group") and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

DocuSigned by:

DocuSigned by:

DocuSigned by:

J W Knight Company Secretary

24 July 2023

BOARD ACTIVITY AND ITS COMMITTEES

During 2022, the board held four scheduled meetings. The table below shows each individual director's attendance at the scheduled board meetings for which they were eligible to attend during the year.

The board meetings follow a formal agenda, which is approved by the Chairman and circulated by the Company Secretary in advance of the meeting to all the non-executive directors and other attendees.

All non-executive directors are expected to attend all scheduled meetings of the board and of the committees on which they serve, and to devote sufficient time to the Company's affairs to fulfil their duties as directors. Where non-executive directors are unable to attend meetings, board papers are provided in advance and their comments are given to the Chair before the meeting and shared with the rest of the board.

Board member r	Board meetings	Finance, Audit and Risk Committee	Nomination and Governance Committee	Remuneration Committee
P M Thomson	4 of 4		1 of 1	1 of 1
C J Cummings	4 of 4			•
A M Altinger	2 of 4			•
S Bird (appointed 27 April 2022)	1 of 2			•
SHCohen	3 of 4			1 of 1
P d'Orgeval (resigned 27 September 2022)	2 of 2			
M E Dzanis	4 of 4	3 of 3		1 of 1
H A Elmasry	4 of 4	3 of 3		
R L Elwell	4 of 4	3 of 3		•
AJ Formica (resigned 27 September 2022)	1 of 2			
SPHagerty	2 of 4	·		1 of 1
P Harrison	2 of 4	•	1 of 1	
CFHill	4 of 4			1 of 1
K S Macgillivray (appointed 27 September 2022) 1 of 1	. •		
N J M D Moreau	2 of 4			
C M O'Reilly	4 of 4			
N J Ring (appointed 27 September 2022)	2 of 2			
M S Scrimgeour	3 of 4		1 of 1	1 of 1
K Skeoch (resigned 27 September 2022)	2 of 2		1 of 1	
H Smits (resigned 27 April 2022)	1 of 2	•		
M R B Versey	2 of 4		1 of 1	
K D Zachary (appointed 27 September 2022)	2 of 2			

THE BOARD'S COMPOSITION AND ROLE

The directors believe that the board is well balanced and possesses sufficient skills, relevant experience, and knowledge to ensure it functions correctly and is not dominated by any one person. The role of the board is to provide entrepreneurial leadership to the Company within a framework of prudent and effective controls, which enables risks to be assessed and managed. The board oversees and directs the affairs of the Company in a manner that seeks to promote the success of the investment industry for the benefit of its members, while complying with relevant legal requirements, the Company's Articles of Association and corporate governance standards.

The board takes ownership of the Company's strategic direction. It adds value by leading the development and regular review of the Company's purpose, goals and strategy. In turn, it provides the necessary frameworks within which the management of the Company can operate in the best interests of the membership. The terms of reference for the board are reviewed as necessary every three years.

COMMITTEES

The board has delegated some of its responsibilities to its three formal committees: the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee; the Nomination and Governance Committee; and the Remuneration Committee. The Company ensures that all the board committees have sufficient resources to carry out their obligations. The Company Secretary acts as secretary to these committees and reports the outcome of the meetings to the board.

FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The Finance, Audit and Risk Committee comprises three non-executive directors and is chaired by Marie Dzanis. The responsibilities of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee include the following:

- Making recommendations to the board on the appointment, reappointment, and remuneration of the auditors.
- Maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control systems.
- Reviewing the financial statements of the Company prior to referral to the board.
- Defining and conducting the relationship between the Company and the auditors including the nature and scope of the audit; and
- Reviewing subscription calculation reviews prior to referral to the board

NOMINATION AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Nomination and Governance Committee comprises five non-executive directors and is chaired by Patrick Thomson. The Committee recommends appointments to the board and approves the appointment of senior IA employees. During 2022, various decisions were deliberated over via other methods of communication than meetings, as allowed by its terms of reference.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises six non-executive directors and is chaired by Michelle Scrimgeour (previously Philippe d'Orgeval). It meets when appropriate and is responsible for determining the terms and conditions, salary and bonus payments of the Chief Executive and certain senior staff.

BOARD TENURE AND SUCCESSION PLANNING

Non-executive directors are appointed for a three-year term. After an initial three-year term, the non-executives may be eligible for reappointment for a further three-year term subject to satisfactory performance and the regular nomination and approval process.

While there are no explicit term limits, to ensure the board remains representative of the wider membership and maintains a diverse mix of skills, views, and experience, it is expected that all directors should serve no more than two terms. However, the board may invite a director to continue for an additional period, or to fulfil a particular role thereafter, if it deems it in the best interests of the Company to do so.

GOING CONCERN

The board has made appropriate enquiries and has concluded that the expected level of member subscriptions will cover forecast expenses and therefore it is reasonable to assert that the Company and the Group will remain in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK ASSESSMENT

The board is ultimately responsible for the Group's system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The system of internal controls is designed to manage and mitigate the risks affecting the business and its operations. The control procedures will not totally eliminate risks and can only provide reasonable (and not absolute) assurance against material misstatement and loss.

MONITORING AND CORRECTIVE ACTION

There are clear and consistent procedures in place for monitoring the system of internal controls. The Finance, Audit and Risk Committee meets at least once a year and reviews the effectiveness of the Group's system of internal controls. The Finance, Audit and Risk Committee receives reports from line management and the external auditors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE INVESTMENT ASSOCIATION

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of The Investment Association (the 'parent company') and its subsidiaries (the 'Group') for the year ended 31 December 2022 which comprise Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statements of Financial Position, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland" (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent company's affairs as 31 December 2022 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;
- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements" section of our report. We are independent of the Group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the director's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our audit procedures to evaluate the directors' assessment of the Group and the parent company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included but were not limited to:

- Undertaking an initial assessment at the planning stage of the audit to identify events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern;
- Evaluating the directors' method to assess the Group and the parent company's ability to continue as a going concern:
- Reviewing the directors' going concern assessment, which incorporated severe but plausible scenarios;
- Evaluating the key assumptions used and judgements applied by the directors in forming their conclusions on going concern; and
- Reviewing the appropriateness of the directors' disclosures in the financial statements.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group and the parent company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We summaries below the key audit matters in forming our opinion above, together with an overview of the principal audit procedures performed to address each matter and our key observations arising from those procedures. The matters set out below are in addition to going concern which, as set out in the "Conclusions relating to going concern" section above, was also identified as a key audit matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is the most significant account balance in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Revenue is made up of the following material streams; membership fees, management fees, institutional voting information service (IVIS) fees, training income and event income.

The risk of fraud or error due to the potential to inappropriately shift the timing and basis of revenue recognition is deemed higher in membership fees and management fees and therefore these two revenue streams are considered to be a key audit matter.

HOW OUR SCOPE ADDRESSED THIS MATTER

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited to:

We reviewed the key elements underpinning the trigger points to recognise revenue, then confirmed our knowledge on this by performing walkthrough testing.

Our detailed audit work regarding revenue recognition in relation to these key audit matters included but was not limited to:

MEMBERSHIP FEES

Reviewed a sample of invoices raised during the year to confirm the appropriate fee had been recorded including cash receipts. Payment of these invoices was agreed to the bank account, or debtors register depending on timing.

Revenue cut-off testing included a review of invoices raised around the year end with a focus on the timing of the associated membership to ensure revenue was recorded in the appropriate period.

A review of the deferred income released in the current year, and deferred at the year end, considering the consistency and patterns seen in the income. This was combined with a review of management estimates for income provisions, including a comparison to historical rate of receivables, any correspondence with clients and actual returns post year end to the date of audit sign off.

MANAGEMENT FEES (INCLUDING IVIS), EVENTS AND TRAINING

Reviewed income in the year from these sources and investigated the areas of divergence from typical performance.

Reviewed any invoices over materiality raised in the year with agreement to the relevant documentation. A subsequent sample was haphazardly selected and agreed to documentation to gain assurance that services had been appropriately charged out.

Invoices selected for testing were traced to remittances in the bank account or the debtors listing as appropriate.

A particular focus was placed on cut off with invoices raised one month pre and post the year end reviewed in detail to identify signs if income had been recorded in the incorrect period.

ALL REVENUE STREAMS

Credit notes raised in the year and post year end were reviewed for indications of ongoing errors, difficult relationships and manipulation of results. Consideration was given to the validity and underlying business rationale of credit notes raised.

OUR OBSERVATIONS

No material issues were noted from any of our audit work on revenue recognition

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY AND AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements as a whole. Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Overall materiality	The overall group materiality was £510,070. The parent's materiality was £315,639.
How we determined it	The overall materiality level has been determined with reference to revenue (consolidated and parent respectively), of which it represents 2%.
Rationale for benchmark applied	In our view, revenue is the most relevant measure of the underlying performance of the Group and the parent company and therefore, has been selected as the materiality benchmark.
Performance materiality	Performance materiality is set to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements in the financial statements exceeds materiality for the financial statements as a whole.
	We set performance materiality at £408,056 for the Group and £252,511 for the entity, which represents 80% of overall materiality.
Reporting threshold	We agreed with the directors that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £15,302 for the Group and £9,469 for the parent company as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.
	This has been calculated as 3% of the Group and parent company's materiality.

The performance materiality set for each component is based on the relative scale and risk of the component to the Group as a whole and our assessment of the risk of misstatement at component level.

As part of designing our audit, we assessed the risk of material misstatement in the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and then designed and performed audit procedures responsive to those risks. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, such as making assumptions on significant accounting estimates.

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed sufficient work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. We used the outputs of a risk assessment, our understanding of the Group and the parent company, its environment, controls and critical business processes, to consider qualitative factors in order to ensure that we obtained sufficient coverage across all financial statement line items.

OTHER INFORMATION

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained in Audit report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the information given in the directors' report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
- the strategic report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the parent company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors' report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
- the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement set out on page 19, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and the parent company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of noncompliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud.

Based on our understanding of the group and the parent company and their industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to the UK tax legislation and anti-bribery, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006.

To help us identify instances of non-compliance with these laws and regulations, and in identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement in respect to non-compliance, our procedures included, but were not limited to:

- Inquiring of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, as to whether the group and the parent company is in compliance with laws and regulations, and discussing their policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations;
- Communicating identified laws and regulations to the engagement team and remaining alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout our audit; and
- Considering the risk of acts by the group and the parent company which were contrary to applicable laws and regulations, including fraud.

We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the preparation of the financial statements, such as the Companies Act 2006.

In addition, we evaluated the directors' and management's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements, including the risk of management override of controls, and determined that the principal risks related to posting manual journal entries to manipulate financial performance, management bias through judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates, revenue recognition, and significant one-off or unusual transactions.

Our audit procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to:

- Making enquiries of the directors and management on whether they had knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;
- Gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud;
- Discussing amongst the engagement team the risks of fraud; and
- Addressing the risks of fraud through management override of controls by performing journal entry testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of irregularities including fraud rests with management. As with any audit, there remained a risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal controls.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

This description forms part of our auditor's report.

USE OF THE AUDIT REPORT

This report is made solely to the company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Docusigned by:

Stephen Eames

11EE7D29CD784F9...

Stephen Eames (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Mazars LLP Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor The Pinnacle 160 Midsummer Boulevard Milton Keyne's MK9 1FF

24 July 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

		Year Ended 2022	Year Ended 2021
	Note	£	£
Revenue	7	16,980,475	14,930,182
Administration expenses		(16,304,581)	(14,270,297)
Operating profit	8	675,894	659,885
Finance income		21,884	3,038
Profit before taxation		697,778	662,923
Tax charge on profit	10	- .	
Profit for the financial year		697,778	662,923
Total comprehensive income		823,965	785,925
Retained profit brought forward		4,510,839	3,724,914
Retained profit carried forward		5,334,804	4,510,839

All activities of the Group relate to continuing operations.

The notes on pages 27 to 37 form part of these financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

			Group		Company
		31/12/2022	31/12/2021	31/12/2022	31/12/2021
	Note	£	£	£	£
Non-Current assets					•
Property, plant and equipment	12	707,358	713,372	707,358	713,372
Intangible assets	,	16,994	46,136	2,784	7,004
Shares in subsidiary undertaking	13	• -	-	102	102
Deferred tax asset	11	249,188	123,002	258,518	128,892
		973,540	882,510	968,762	849,370
Current assets					
Debtors	14	8,872,393	6,401,971	8,498,074	6,156,567
Cash at bank and in hand	15	11,601,035	11,328,158	10,654,942	10,784,940
·		20,473,428	17,730,129	19,153,016	16,941,507
Current liabilities		***************************************			
Creditors: amounts due within one year	16	(16,112,164)	(14,101,800)	(17,077,795)	(15,168,643)
Net current assets	,	4,361,264	3,628,329	2,075,221	1,772,864
Total assets less current liabilities		5,334,804	4,510,839	3,043,983	2,622,234
Profit and loss account					
Profit and loss account 1 Jan		4,510,839	3,724,914	2,622,234	1,946,127
Profit for the financial year		823,965	785,925	421,749	676,107
Profit and loss account 31 Dec		5,334,804	4,510,839	3,043,983	2,622,234
Accumulated reserves	,	5,334,804	4,510,839	3,043,983	2,622,234

The financial statements on pages 24 to 37 were approved by the Board of Directors and were signed on its behalf by:

DocuSigned by

Patrick Thomson

-B342A198974E470...

Patrick Thomson Chair

24 July 2023

Company Number: 04343737

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

		01/01/2022- 31/12/2022	01/01/2021- 31/12/2021
	Note	£	£
Net cash (out)flow from operating activities	18	517,951	1,663,206
Taxation received/(paid)		`-	-
Net cash generated from/(in) operating activities	••••••	517,951	1,663,206
Cash flow from investing activities	***************************************		
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		(266,958)	(144,226)
Interest received		21,884	3,038
Net cash generated used in investing activities	***************************************	(245,074)	(141,188)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash at bank and in hand		272,877	1,522,018
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		11,328,158	9,806,140
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year		11,601,035	11,328,158
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:			
Cash at bank and in hand	······································	11,601,035	11,328,158

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The principal activity of the Company is to represent the interests of the investment management industry in the UK and to promote high standards among its members.

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These financial statements have been prepared in compliance with United Kingdom accounting standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland" ("FRS 102") and the Companies Act 2006.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to both years presented, unless otherwise stated.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention.

B) GOING CONCERN

The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

C) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The Group consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings. A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity to obtain benefits from its activities.

D) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Company provides a range of benefits to employees, including annual bonus arrangements, paid holiday arrangements and defined contribution pension plans. Short term employee benefits, including holiday pay are recognised as an expense in the period in which the service is received.

The Company operates a defined contribution plan for its employees. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays a fixed contribution into a separate entity. Once the contributions have been paid the Company has no further payment obligations. The contributions are recognised as an expense as they fall due. Amounts not paid are shown in accruals in the statements of financial position. The assets of the plan are held separately from the Company in independently administered funds.

E) EXPENSES

All expenses are accounted for on the accruals basis.

F) REVENUE

All revenue is accounted for under the accrual method of accounting. The amount of subscriptions receivable from members under the terms of the Constitution of the Company is calculated to meet the budgeted expenses net of any other estimated receipts for the year. In addition, other revenue represents income from training and events run by the Investment Association Services Limited during the year, the provision of management services to other trade associations, income from IVIS and Investment 2020, the setting up of special committees and subscriptions to the

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

IA Engine Ltd. Revenue from services rendered is recognised based on stage of completion when both the following conditions are satisfied:

- The amount of revenue can be measured reliably; and
- It is probable that the Company will receive the consideration due.

G) DEFERRED INCOME

Revenue is generally invoiced in advance of the period it relates to. It is apportioned evenly over the period in which it relates to, mainly over 12 months; the portion of income relating to future periods is deferred.

H) DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income using the straight-line basis as follows:

- Fixtures, fittings and equipment: 3-5 years, except where warranties are received for longer periods, then they are depreciated over the warranty period
- · Leasehold improvements: over the life of the primary lease
- · Software is written off in the year of acquisition

Intangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income using the straight-line basis as follows:

• Website development - Straight line over 3 years

The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, or if there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting date.

I) TAXATION

The Group has entered into an arrangement with HMRC under which it pays Corporation Tax on its surplus. The arrangement allows members of the Association to treat payments to the Association as a trading expense. Irrecoverable VAT incurred on expenses has been included in the relevant expense category.

Taxation expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax recognised in the reporting period.

- Current tax: Current tax is the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior years.
- Deferred tax: Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are differences between taxable profits and total comprehensive income as stated in the financial statements.

J) DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred tax assets are only recognised where it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

K) INVESTMENTS

Investments, other than those in subsidiary undertakings are included at fair value. Investments in subsidiary undertakings are included at cost.

L) CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

Cash at bank and in hand includes cash in hand, deposits held at call at banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

M) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group has chosen to adopt Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments.

• Financial assets – Basic financial assets, including trade and other receivables, cash and bank balances are recognised at their transaction price. Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost, under the effective interest method. Other financial assets, including investments, other than subsidiaries are initially measured at fair value, which is normally transaction price. Such assets are subsequently carried at fair value and the changes in fair value are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

• Financial liabilities – Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other payables and loans from fellow Group companies are initially recognised at their transaction price. Such liabilities are subsequently carried at amortised cost, under the effective interest method. Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

N) DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Financial assets are derecognised when and only when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or are settled, (b) the Company transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (c) the Company despite having retained some, but not all, significant risks and rewards of ownership, has transferred control of the asset to another party. Financial liabilities are derecognised only when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, or expires.

O) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the Company's financial statements requires the directors to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience, expectations of future events and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

P) FOREIGN CURRENCY

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the measurement currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates.

Q) DIVIDEND

Dividends are received from the Company's subsidiaries and are recorded in the period in which they are received.

R) LEASES

Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are taken to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

S) SHARE CAPITAL

The Company has no share capital since it is limited by guarantee. The members have undertaken that, in the event of a winding up, they will contribute toward payment of the liabilities of the Company a sum up to the amount of their guarantee of £10.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the assets or liabilities affected.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

5. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The Company and Group's activities consist primarily of the provision of member services in the UK.

6. PROFITS OF THE HOLDING COMPANY

Of the profit for the financial year, a profit of £292,189 (2021:£676,107) relates to the Company, The Investment Association. The directors have taken advantage of the exemption available under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and not presented a profit and loss account for the Company alone.

7. REVENUE

•	01/01/2022- 31/12/2022	01/01/2021 - 31/12/2021
	£	£
Full Members	12,396,000	11,191,767
Affiliate Members	978,462	921,950
Sector Members	264,470	242,104
	13,638,932	12,355,821
Management Fee Income	589,056	579,281
Institutional Voting Information Service Income	465,513	447,608
Investment20/20 Subscription Income	710,604	593,115
Events and Training Income	1,247,370	599,407
Special Committee Income	150,000	220,000
FinTech Member Income	118,550	116,300
Other Income	60,450	18,650
Revenue	16,980,475	14,930,182

8. OPERATING PROFIT

Operating profit is stated after charging:

	01/01/2022- 31/12/2022	01/01/2021- 31/12/2021
	£	£
Salaries	8,607,692	7,746,144
Social security costs	1,216,238	979,154
Other pension costs	887,208	861,567
Staff costs	10,711,138	9,586,865
Depreciation & amortisation of tangible & intangible fixed assets	303,400	323,896
Operating lease charges	490,000	490,000
Auditors' remuneration		
- Audit services	37,660	29,500
- Other services including tax	27,997	14,159

9. EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS

EMPLOYEES

The monthly average number of persons employed by the Company during the year was 96 (2021: 89). The average number of key management personnel during the year was 8 (2021: 8).

The Company provides pensions through defined contribution schemes and pension costs are charged as incurred. The amount recognised as an expense was £887,208 (2021: £861,567).

KEY MANAGEMENT

Key management includes the directors and members of senior management. The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

·	01/01/2022- 31/12/2022	01/01/2021- 31/12/2021
	£	£
Key management compensation	2,860,772	2,863,340

DIRECTORS

The non-executive directors received no emoluments in the year.

Total emoluments in respect of the executive director was:

	01/01/2022- 31/12/2022	01/01/2021- 31/12/2020
	£	£
CJ Cummings .	1,035,843	1,108,199

Contributions made to a pension scheme on behalf of Mr CJ Cummings were £nil (2021: £nil).

10. TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

A) CURRENT TAX

•		01/01/2022- 31/12/2022	01/01/2021- 31/12/2021
	Note	£	£
UK corporation tax on profits for the year		-	-
Adjustments in respect of previous years		· -	-
Tax charge on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities	(b)	-	• -

DEFERRED TAX

		01/01/2022- 31/12/2022	01/01/2021- 31/12/2021
	Note	£	£
Origination and reversal and other timing differences		126,182	123,002
Tax charge on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities		126,182	123,002

Reconciliation of the total tax charge included in Statement of Comprehensive Income.

B) FACTORS AFFECTING THE TAX CHARGE FOR THE YEAR

	01/01/2022- 31/12/2022	01/01/2021- 31/12/201
	£	£
Profit on ordinary activities before tax	697,756	662,923
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate (19.00%)	132,574	125,955
Effects of:		
Non-taxable income		(306)
Non-deductible expenses	368,641	1,971
Fixed asset differences	(2,499)	(2,816)
Adjustments to brought forward values		(1,861)
Other permanent differences		-
Deferred tax adjustment	(10,869)	(250,109)
Consolidation adjustments	(361,655)	127,166
Total tax charge for the year	126,182	-

C) FACTORS AFFECTING THE FUTURE TAX CHARGES

It was announced in the budget on 3 March 2021, the rate of corporation tax would be increased to 25% with effect from 1 April 2023. The Finance Bill 2021 was substantively enacted by Parliament on 24 May 2021.

11. DEFERRED TAX ASSET

DEFERRED TAX ASSET

•	01/01/2022- 31/12/2022	01/01/2021- 31/12/2021
·	£	£
Deferred Tax Asset	249,188	123,002
Total	249,188	123,002

The deferred tax asset balance relates to unutilised losses and deferred bonuses.

12. FIXED ASSETS

Group	Leasehold Improvements	Fixtures, fittings and equipment	Intangible Assets – Websites	Total
	£	£	£	
Cost				
1 January 2022	1,113,017	990,705	301,500	2,405,222
Additions	93,125	169,656	4,177	266,958
Disposals/write offs	<u>-</u>	- .	· -	-
31 December 2022	1,206,142	1,160,361	305,677	2,672,180
Accumulated depreciation & am	nortisation			
1 January 2022	676,712	713,638	255,364	1,645,714
Charge for the year	129,989	138,806	33,319	302,114
Disposals/write offs	•	-	-	<u>-</u>
31 December 2022	806,701	852,444	288,683	1,947,828
Net book value		•		
31 December 2022	399,441	307,917	16,994	724,352
31 December 2021	436,305	277,067	46,136	759,508

12. FIXED ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Leasehold Improvements	Fixtures, fittings and equipment	Intangible Assets - websites	Total
£	£	£	
1,113,017	990,705	172,376	2,276,098
93,125	169,656	4,176	266,957
-	-	<u>-</u>	
1,206,142	1,160,361	176,552	2,543,055
676,712	713,638	165,372	. 1,555,722
129,989	138,806	8,396	277,191
-		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
806,701	852,444	173,768	1,832,913
399,441	307,917	2,784	710,142
436,305	277,067	7,004	720,376
	1,113,017 93,125 - 1,206,142 676,712 129,989 - 806,701	Improvements and equipment £ £ 1,113,017 990,705 93,125 169,656 - - 1,206,142 1,160,361 676,712 713,638 129,989 138,806 - - 806,701 852,444 399,441 307,917	Improvements and equipment Assets - websites £ £ £ 1,113,017 990,705 172,376 93,125 169,656 4,176 - - - 1,206,142 1,160,361 176,552 676,712 713,638 165,372 129,989 138,806 8,396 - - - 806,701 852,444 173,768 399,441 307,917 2,784

13. SHARES IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

The Company holds 100% of the issued share capital of the Investment Association Services Limited, the IA Engine Ltd and IA Titan Ltd, all companies incorporated in England, which are consolidated in these financial statements. The activities of the Investment Association Services Limited include the running of training and other events for the members of the Investment Association, the provision of management services to other trade associations, the running of the Institutional Voting Information Service and provision of subscription services to Investment20/20. The activities of the IA Engine Ltd is that of a Financial Technology accelerator. IA Titan provides subscription services to cyber threat alerts. The registered office for the Investment Association Services Limited, the IA Engine Ltd and IA Titan Ltd are the same as the Investment Association, which is: Camomile Court, 23 Camomile Street, London, EC3A 7LL.

14. DEBTORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

	31/12/2022	Group 31/12/2021	31/12/2022	Company 31/12/2021
	£	£	£	£
Trade debtors – current year	231,744	145,808	34,469	29,279
Trade debtors – future subscriptions	7,700,683	5,419,941	7,700,683	5,419,941
Amounts owed by Group undertakings	- -	, * -	26,279	81,246
Other debtors	3,252	146,555	3,252	413
Prepayments and accrued income	936,714	689,667	733,391	625,688
	8,872,393	6,401,971	8,498,074	6,156,567

15. CASH IN BANK AND IN HAND

		Group		
	31/12/2022			31/12/2021
	£	£	£	£
Bank accounts	11,601,036	11,328,158	10,654,942	10,784,940
	11,601,036	11,328,158	10,654,942	10,784,940

16. CREDITORS; AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

	31/12/2022	Group 31/12/2021	31/12/2022	Company 31/12/2021
	£	£	£	£
Trade creditors	164,620	239,112	138,246	212,998
Corporation Tax	-	,-	-	-
Amounts owed to Group undertaking	-	<u>-</u>	1,533,686	1,564,504
Other taxation and social security payable	1,331,721	1,026,675	1,332,057	1,026,675
Accruals and deferred income	1,746,584	1,653,666	1,204,567	1,182,119
Future subscriptions	12,869,239	11,160,667	12,869,239	11,160,667
Other creditors		21,680	-	21,680
	16,112,164	14,101,800	17,077,795	15,168,643

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand.

17. LEASE COMMITMENTS

The total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for each of the following periods are:

	31/12/2022	31/12/2021	
	£	£	
Not later than one year	490,074	490,074	
Later than one year and not later than five years	1,373,564	1,863,638	
Later than five years	-	· -	

18. NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

	01/01/2022- 31/12/2022	01/01/2021- 31/12/2021	
	£	£	
Profit for the financial year	697,778	662,923	
Tax on profit on ordinary activities	-	-	
Finance income	(21,884)	(3,038)	
Operating profit	675,894	659,885	
Depreciation & amortisation	302,114	323,896	
Loss on disposal of fixed assets	-	1,361	
Working capital movements:			
- Decrease/(Increase) in debtors	(2,470,421)	(28,428)	
- (Decrease)/Increase in creditors	2,010,364	706,492	
Cash flow generated from/(used in) operating activities	517,951	1,663,206	

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

	•	31/12/2022	Group 31/12/2021	31/12/2022	Company 31/12/2021
	Note	£	£	£	£
Financial assets measured at amortised cost					
Shares in subsidiary undertakings	13	-	=	102	102
Trade debtors - current year	14	231,744	145,808	34,469	29,279
Trade debtors – future subscriptions	14	7,700,683	5,419,941	7,700,683	5,419,941
Other debtors	14	3,252	146,555	3,252	413
Amounts owed by Group undertakings		-	-	26,279	81,246
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost	t		. ,		
Trade creditors	16	164,620	239,112	138,246	212,998
Other creditors	16	-	21,680	-	21,680
Amounts owed to Group undertaking	16	-	*	1,533,686	1,564,504
Other taxation and social security payable	16	1,331,721	1,026,675	1,332,057	1,026,675
Accruals and deferred income	16	1,746,584	1,653,666	1,081,887	1,182,119
Future subscriptions	16	12,869,239	11,160,667	12,869,239	11,160,667

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption not to disclose related party transactions in respect to all transactions and balances with the Investment Association Services Limited, the IA Engine Ltd or IA Titan Ltd, which are wholly owned subsidiaries, and such transactions are eliminated on consolidation, as permitted under Paragraph 1.12 of FRS 102. There were no related party transactions during 2022 (2021: £nil).

21. EXEMPTIONS

The directors have also taken advantage of the exemption available under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and not presented a profit and loss account for the Company alone.

22. LEGAL STRUCTURE

The Company is limited by guarantee, incorporated, and domiciled in the UK. The address of its registered office is Camomile Court, 23 Camomile Street, London, EC3A 7LL.

23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There are no post balance sheet events to note.



The Investment Association

Camomile Court, 23 Camomile Street, London, EC3A 7LL

www.theia.org

July 2023

© The Investment Association (2023). All rights reserved. No reproduction without permission of The Investment Association.